FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/22/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100016-2

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/22/2021 1:49 PM

No. 81252-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

1201 W NICKERSON LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

SUPERIOR MOTOR CAR CO, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Aaron P. Orheim, WSBA #47670 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Appellant Superior Motor Car Co, LLC

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Can a landlord terminate a lease and evict a tenant for breaching "an intended purpose" or "one of the multiple functions of the contractual relationship" as Division I held, or must the landlord show that the breach affected a "primary term" going to the "root or essence" of the lease, as courts in Washington have held for decades?
- 2. Does a minor alteration to a leased building's aesthetics to install a tenant's approved sign warrant eviction and forfeiture of a valuable lease without proof that the alteration was permanent, damaging, or even costly to replace?
 - 3. Must a court consider equitable alternatives to forfeiture?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As discussed below, the Court of Appeals got many facts wrong in this case involving an unlawful detainer. The court fell for the landlord's tactics of relying on facts and evidence that was excluded at trial or not included in the landlord's formal notice of unlawful detainer. Beyond these mistakes, the operative facts are largely undisputed.

Superior sells and consigns preowned cars. Superior's founders, Ahmed (Ed) Elbejou (Bejou), and Zhili (Andy), negotiated a lease in 2019 for a new location at 1201 W. Nickerson Street in Seattle with

Respondent, 1201 W. Nickerson LLC ("Nickerson"). CP 48-77. The lease lasted for five years and contained two, three-year renewal options. CP 48. The lease mandated that Nickerson complete improvements to address several problems with the building. CP 73-74. Superior tendered a total deposit of \$58,950 and began moving in. CP 953.

Unfortunately, the problems with the building persisted and interfered with Superior's operations. CP 23-31. After Nickerson missed several deadlines to make improvements required by the lease, Superior issued a notice of default, asking that Nickerson complete the work. *Id.* The parties agree that around this time their relationship soured. *E.g.*, RP 89-90, 174-75. The parties argued over the repairs and other issues like building access; they had trouble recovering a working relationship, despite Superior's efforts to mend things. RP 89-90.

Ultimately, this dispute boils down to a single aesthetic change Superior made to the building, thinking it had permission to do so. A decorative, blue metal stripe ran along the sides of the building, and Superior wished to remove the stripe on one side to install a sign advertising its presence. Exs. 32, 132.² The stripe overlaid the building's siding, attached by simple screws. CP 91. The stripe served a purely

¹ Bejou testified that Superior had "zero" issues with its prior landlord. RP 103.

² Exhibits cited in this petition are included in the attached Appendix.

aesthetic function; it had nothing to do with the building's structural integrity. CP 91-92.

Superior sent renderings of its proposed sign to Nickerson. Ex. 32. Those drawings showed the decorative stripe entirely removed on the side of the building where the sign would go. *Id.* Nickerson responded by email, "Signage is approved...Stripe can be removed where the sign is to be installed." Ex. 132. Nickerson's representative, LeAnn Polin, later testified that she meant Superior could *partially remove* the stripe from that side of the building, only exactly where the sign would go. RP 259. There is nothing in the record to show that Nickerson clarified this caveat to Superior, other Polin's single email.

Superior removed the decorative stripe on the north side of the building to install the sign according to the picture Nickerson approved. RP 59. Thinking it had permission, Superior removed the entire stripe, resealed any holes with silicone-sealed screws, and had its sign professionally installed by a permitted installer. *Id.*; CP 35-37, 90-92, 366-75; Exs. 177, 178.

The parties' relationship remained strained, and Nickerson eventually served Superior with its own notice of default, alleging five breaches of the lease. CP 6. This included an allegation that Superior made "exterior modifications without prior Landlord

approval...compromising structural integrity and integrity of [the] building envelope." *Id.* The trial court would later find that the four other alleged breaches³ were either not proven, not a breach of the lease, or not a material breach justifying eviction. CP 970-71. Nickerson did not cross appeal those findings, and, thus, those issues are not relevant on appeal. Superior refuted the allegations, asserting that Nickerson gave permission to remove the stripe, that the stripe was purely aesthetic, not structural, and later that even if it technically breached the lease by exceeding Nickerson's permission, its breach was not material. CP 35-36, 348-401.

(1) <u>Trial Court Proceedings</u>

Nickerson filed an unlawful detainer action in King County Superior Court, seeking to terminate the lease and repossess the property due to Superior's alleged material breaches of the lease. CP 1-4.

Superior engaged a well-qualified construction expert, who refuted Nickerson's allegations that removing the decorative stripe caused structural damage to the building. CP 89-104. With no evidence to refute this, Nickerson dropped any allegations of structural or other damages in a

³ The other alleged minor breaches were for allegedly preventing the landlord's agent from entering the property on occasion, failure to pay a water bill on time, failure to provide proof of insurance, and failure to comply with certain environmental regulations. *See* CP 6, 970-71. Nickerson dropped many of these allegations, presenting no evidence at trial, and the trial court properly found either that no breach occurred, or that the breach was minor and not material to the parties' contract. *Id*.

formal stipulation at trial. RP 9-10, 59, 96.⁴ Thus, the only remaining issue at trial was whether removing too much of the decorative stripe, without proof of damages, was a material breach of the lease.

After a two-day bench trial, the trial court, the Honorable Steve Rosen, ruled for Nickerson. It found that even though Nickerson gave permission to remove part of the decorative stripe, Superior materially breached the lease by removing it entirely to install the approved signage. CP 549-47. The trial court evicted Superior, finding that Superior forfeited the lease due to that single material breach. CP 555-57. The court awarded Nickerson attorney fees, under the fee-shifting provision in the lease, double damages, and rent for the rest of the lease until Nickerson mitigated its damages by reletting the premises. CP 65, 555-57. Superior ultimately faces up to \$690,085.24 in potential damages under the order. CP 545.⁵ Superior appealed. CP 628-741.

(2) The Court of Appeals

Superior argued on appeal that even if it technically breached the lease, the breach was not material and did not justify eviction as a matter

⁴ The Court of Appeals correctly vacated findings the trial court made about damage to the building due to Nickerson's stipulations that damage to the building was no longer an issue at trial. Op. at 9-10.

⁵ Superior moved for reconsideration under CR 59(a)(6), (7), and (9), arguing that the trial court's order that removing a purely decorative stripe was contrary to law, based on insufficient evidence, and inequitable as a matter of justice. CP 348-401. The trial court denied that motion. CP 962-65.

of law, especially absent *any proof of damage* or irreversible change to the building. Appellant's br., *generally*. It argued that the trial court applied the wrong legal because it never found that the breach substantially defeated a primary or root term of the contract – which, being a commercial lease, was to transfer possession of the property to operate a car dealership in exchange for rent – and because it did not consider remedies short of eviction, as required by principles of law and equity. *Id*.

After considering the case without argument, Division I affirmed, holding for the first time in Washington (or elsewhere based on the authorities presented by both parties) that a non-damaging, decorative alteration supports eviction and forfeiture of a lease. The Court held that because the breach "defeated *an intended purpose* [of the lease]: that Nickerson retain control over the building's aesthetics" the breach was material. Op. at 12 (emphasis added). Elsewhere, the Court wrote that a finding that a party breached "one of the multiple functions of the contractual relationship" can sustain forfeiture for material breach. *Id*.

These legal errors, creating conflicts with published authority, are detailed below, but it is worth noting here that Division I misstated several basic facts. First, it based its decision, in part, on the misconception that Superior "failed to pay rent throughout the entire trial." Op. at 13. Not true; Nickerson admitted at trial that Superior tendered rent checks

through trial, but *Nickerson* decided not to cash them. RP 331; CP 753.

Division I also relied on facts and issues that were not before the trial court. The Court wrote that "Superior *continuously* made *changes* [to the premises] without approval." Op. at 11 (emphasis added). But even if that were true (which is it is not),⁶ the only "change" at issue in the unlawful detainer was the removal of the decorative stripe. CP 6. That was the only change alleged in the notice of unlawful detainer served on Superior, CP 5-7, and the trial court *excluded* any testimony about other contemplated "changes" to the building because they were not plead. *E.g.*, RP 185 ("sustaining the objection as to the testimony…about exterior modifications other than removal of sheet metal paneling").

Without explanation, the Court of Appeals denied Superior's motion for reconsideration to correct these legal and factual errors. App.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. This timely petition for review follows that denial. RAP 13.4(a).

(1) <u>Division I's Opinion Conflicts with Existing Law by Lowering the Standard for Material Breach. RAP</u> 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Review is warranted because Division I's opinion departs from

_

⁶ There is no evidence in the record that Superior made any unauthorized "changes" to the premises, other than technically removing too much of the decorative stripe. For example, Division I mentioned painting, but Superior submitted all proposed painting to Nickerson for approval. *E.g.*, Ex. 132. This is true of all the other proposed changes. *See*, *e.g.*, RP 69-81 (testimony from Superior's architect who noted Nickerson's "micromanaging" when Superior sought approval for all proposed changes).

established law on material breach. It held that because the breach "defeated *an intended purpose* [of the lease]: that Nickerson retain control over the building's aesthetics" the breach was material. Op. at 12 (emphasis added). It also held that breaching "one of the multiple functions of the contractual relationship" can justify eviction of a lease for material breach. *Id.* Division I is wrong, and its opinion creates conflicts with published authorities, warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Material breach is a term of art in contract analysis. A breach is not material if it merely defeats "an intended purpose" of a contract, as Division I incorrectly concluded. Rather, a material breach is one that "substantially defeats a primary function of an agreement." 224 Westlake, LLC v. Engstrom Properties, LLC, 169 Wn. App. 700, 724, 281 P.3d 693 (2012) (quotation omitted). It must be "so significant it excuses the other party's performance and justifies rescission of the contract." Park Ave. Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Buchan Devs., L.L.C., 117 Wn. App. 369, 383, 71 P.3d 692, reconsidered in part, 75 P.3d 974 (2003). An "inconsequential or trivial breach" is insufficient grounds to vitiate a contract. Campbell v. Hauser Lumber Co., 147 Wash. 140, 143, 265 P. 468 (1928). Thus, courts have clarified that the term must go to the "root or essence of the contract"

⁷ Merriam-Webster defines "primary" as "of first rank, importance, or value." *Primary*, Merriam-Webster, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/primary (last accessed July 21, 2021).

to be material. *DC Farms, LLC v. Conagra Foods Lamb Weston, Inc.*, 179 Wn. App. 205, 220, 317 P.3d 543 (2014); *Lake Hills Investments LLC v. Rushforth Constr. Co., Inc.*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 617, 639, 472 P.3d 337 (2020), *review granted*, 196 Wn.2d 1042 (2021).

Division I's opinion creates clear conflicts with these authorities. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). Merely breaching "an intended purpose" or "one of the multiple functions" of a lease is not enough to evict a tenant. Without a finding that some decorative change substantially defeated the *primary function* or the *root or essence* of the contract, eviction cannot stand.⁸ The Court should grant review to ensure consistency in the law.

(2) <u>Division I's Opinion Conflicts with Law and Public Policy</u> Because Eviction Is a Last Resort. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

Review is also imperative to protect tenants' rights. Division I's opinion lowers the bar for materiality by disregarding whether the breach was at the *root or essence* of the lease, creating an impermissibly liberal standard for evictions, contrary to law and public policy in Washington. A

⁸ Upon granting review, the Court should reverse because no reasonable person could find that the prohibition on unauthorized alterations is a primary or root term of the lease. It is not among the "BASIC AGREEMENT TERMS" as defined by the lease. CP 48-49. In the 21-page, single-spaced lease, it occupies just *eight lines*. CP 52. It is a subsection of a subsection. *Id.* And of all the authorities presented below evaluating this issue, *none* have held that temporary, decorative alterations constitute a material breach of a lease, even where the lease or landlord forbids them, because the primary function of such contracts is to transfer possession for the collection of rent. *See*, *e.g.*, *Kaydon Acquisition Corp. v. Am. Cent. Indus.*, Inc., 179 F. Supp. 2d 1022, 1040 (N.D. Iowa 2001), *infra*, ("A review of [the reported decisions across the country] reveals that courts have been extremely reluctant to grant a forfeiture of a lease due to a tenant's making of alterations or modifications to leased premises without the landlord's prior permission.").

tenant must not face the threat of eviction for breaching a minor or immaterial term in a lease, like a general prohibition on unapproved, decorative alterations. This is especially true here where the parties merely miscommunicated about the extent of Nickerson's permission to remove the decorative stripe. By holding otherwise, tenants in Washington could face the harshest remedy at law – eviction – for merely painting a wall the wrong color. Review is warranted to ensure tenants in this state receive greater protection than Division I's outlier opinion affords. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

Division I gave short shrift to the principle that when assessing whether a breach is material, thus warranting forfeiture of a lease, a court must start with the premise that "[t]he law does not favor forfeitures, and equity abhors them." *Deming v. Jones*, 173 Wash. 644, 648, 24 P.2d 85 (1933) (denying landlord's action to terminate a lease through unlawful detainer). Forfeiture is a last resort, and close calls cannot justify forfeiture. *Pardee v. Jolly*, 163 Wn.2d 558, 574, 182 P.3d 967 (2008) ("[F]orfeitures are not favored in law and are never enforced in equity unless the right thereto is so clear as to permit no denial."). Additionally, the statutes governing unlawful detainer actions are strictly construed in favor of the tenant, evidencing a policy in Washington that eviction actions for material breach are subject to strict standards. *Hous. Auth. of*

City of Everett v. Terry, 114 Wn.2d 558, 563, 789 P.2d 745 (1990).

For these reasons, courts have long held that eviction is improper where a landlord has adequate remedies to cure minor breaches, including injunctive relief, specific performance, or damages if the landlord can prove them (which Nickerson did not even attempt to do), which often involves withholding money from a tenant's damage deposit. *See Cornish Coll. of the Arts v. 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship*, 158 Wn. App. 203, 222, 242 P.3d 1 (2010), *review denied*, 171 Wn.2d 1014 (2011) (discussing that in a landlord tenant dispute, the aggrieved party can always seek damages or "compel a party to specifically perform its promise" when money damages "cannot adequately compensate a party's loss").

There is simply no case in Washington, or elsewhere, to support Division I's holding that removing a purely decorative stripe constitutes a material breach of a lease, especially without any proof of lasting damage. Nickerson cited no such authority to any court. *See, e.g.*, CP 271-89 (Nickerson's trial brief); Resp't br., *generally*. Division I extended the law in favor of landlords further than ever before, as evidenced by its omission of caselaw from Washington or elsewhere analyzing materiality in the landlord/tenant context.⁹

⁹ See op. at 7-12 (citing 224 Westlake, 169 Wn. App. 700 (real estate purchase option agreement); Park Ave., 117 Wn. App. 369 (breach of implied warranty of quality construction for a condominium); Bailie Commc'ns, Ltd. v. Trend Bus. Sys., 53 Wn. App.

When Washington courts have commented on disputes over the aesthetics of properties, they have held that such concerns are not fundamental to the property's use. For example, in *Atherton Condominium Apartment-Owners Association Board of Directors v. Blume Development Co.*, 115 Wn.2d 506, 522, 799 P.2d 250 (1990), this Court noted that mere "aesthetic concerns" are insufficient grounds to find that a breach of the warranty of habitability in the construction of a residential building because they do not undermine the building's fundamental use. *See also, Westlake View Condo. v. Sixth Ave. View Partners, LLC*, 146 Wn. App. 760, 770, 193 P.3d 161 (2008) (commenting that "trivial" and "merely aesthetic" defects are not material breaches of a contractor's duty when constructing a residence).

While *Atherton* and *Westlake* involved residential properties, they support the notion that temporarily altering a building's aesthetics is a fleeting, trivial concern that does not constitute a material breach of a commercial lease because it does not affect the lease's fundamental purpose – which is to transfer the right to possession in exchange for rent. Division I's opinion conflicts with these analogous authorities warranting

-

^{77, 765} P.2d 339 (1988), *review denied*, 113 Wn.2d 1025 (1989) (purchase agreement for a condominium in Hawaii); *DC Farms*, 179 Wn. App. 205 (action by farmer against food processor for breach of contract); *Colorado Structures, Inc. v. Ins. Co. of the W.*, 161 Wn.2d 577, 167 P.3d 1125 (2007) (action against surety to recover on subcontractor's performance bond)).

review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Division I's opinion not only conflicts with Washington law, but it stands as an outlier nationwide, where courts are "extremely reluctant to grant a forfeiture of a lease due to a tenant's making of alterations or modifications to leased premises without the landlord's prior permission." *Kaydon*, 179 F. Supp. 2d at 1040 (reviewing reported decisions across the country). Instead, if party makes changes that are fleeting or merely "cost some money to fix," courts have widely held that any technical breach is not material as a matter of law. Gateway Co. v. Charlotte Theatres, Inc., 297 F.2d 483, 486 n.2 (1st Cir. 1961). This is especially true absent a showing of any damages. E.g., Fowler v. Resash Corp., 469 So. 2d 153, 154 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1985), review denied, 479 So. 2d 117 (Fla. 1985) (setting aside a jury verdict ordering forfeiture of a lease where the landlord suffered no actual damages in a dispute over a "decorative colonnade"). It is also especially true when it comes to signage and other minor alterations made in connection with advertising a tenant's presence in the building. See 18 Associates, LLC v. Court St. Pizza, Inc., 57 Misc. 3d 1204(A), 66 N.Y.S.3d 653 (N.Y. Civ. Ct. 2017) (unauthorized "signage is a minor infraction of the lease" and "without evidence...produced to prove any kind of damages from this infraction...this ground is insufficient as a matter of fact and law to terminate the tenancy of the

Respondent"), aff'd sub nom., Eighteen Associates, LLC v. Court St. Pizza, Inc., 66 Misc. 3d 148(A) (N.Y. App. Term. 2020). 10

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