# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/16/2021 2:33 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100016-2

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

1201 W NICKERSON LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

SUPERIOR MOTOR CAR CO, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SONKIN & SCHREMPP, PLLC SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Irving A. Sonkin WSBA No. 3359 By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542 Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210

12715 NE Bel-Red Road, Ste 150 Bellevue, WA 98005-2627 (425) 289-3440 1619 8<sup>th</sup> Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

##

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

### D. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied.

1. The Court of Appeals' application of the Restatement factors for determining the materiality of a breach of contract is consistent with Washington law.

Superior's arguments in both this Court and the Court of Appeals are founded on the erroneous notion that Nickerson was required to perpetually tolerate its tenant's attempts to alter the property without its permission. But Washington law recognizes that Nickerson was well within its rights to treat the removal of the siding stripe from the entire north side of the warehouse as the "last straw" warranting termination of the lease. Superior's arguments to the contrary ignore the law applied by the Court of Appeals and distort its limited holding that substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings that Superior materially breached the lease.

"If a party materially breaches a contract, the other party may treat the breach as a condition excusing further performance." City of Woodinville v. Northshore United Church of Christ, 166 Wn.2d 633, 647, ¶ 31, 211 P.3d 406 (2009). "A 'material breach' is one that substantially defeats the purpose of the contract, or relates to an essential element of the contract, and deprives the injured party of a benefit that he or she reasonably expected." 6A Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ., WPI 302.03 (7th ed). As the notes to the pattern instruction explain, "[t]he materiality of a breach is a question of fact" that "depends on the circumstances of each particular case." 6A Wash. Prac., supra, WPI 302.03.

The Restatement (Second) of Contracts outlines five factors that are significant in resolving the factual issue of "whether a failure to render or to offer performance is material," including "whether the breach deprives the injured party of a benefit which he reasonably expected" and "whether the breach comports with good faith and fair dealing":

- (1) whether the breach deprives the injured party of a benefit which he reasonably expected,
- (2) whether the injured party can be adequately compensated for the part of that benefit which he will be deprived,
- (3) whether the breaching party will suffer a forfeiture by the injured party's withholding of performance,
- (4) whether the breaching party is likely to cure his breach, and
- (5) whether the breach comports with good faith and fair dealing.

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 241 (1981).

The Court of Appeals has repeatedly applied the Restatement factors. *See, e.g., DC Farms, LLC v. Conagra Foods Lamb Weston, Inc.*, 179 Wn. App. 205, 221, ¶ 35, 317 P.3d 543 (2014); *Bailie Commc'ns, Ltd. v. Trend Bus. Sys.*, 53 Wn. App. 77, 82, 765 P.2d 339 (1988), *rev. denied*, 113 Wn.2d 1025 (1989); *Vacova Co. v. Farrell*, 62 Wn. App. 386, 403-05, 814 P.2d 255 (1991); *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc.*, 140 Wn.

App. 191, 209, ¶ 45, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007). The pattern jury instruction defining a "material breach" also contains a note stating that "[d]epending upon the circumstances of the case, it may be appropriate to add language from the provisions of the Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 241." 6A Wash. Prac., *supra*, WPI 302.03.

The Court of Appeals applied this established law in affirming the trial court's findings that Superior materially breached its commercial lease with Nickerson. Superior argues that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Washington law (Pet. 8-10), but it nowhere addresses the Restatement factors or the Court of Appeals' application of those factors, including its observation that "Nickerson reasonably expected—based on the explicit contractual provision—to retain control over Superior's modifications to the property and, in particular, its modifications to the

property's exterior." (See Op. 10-11)<sup>3</sup> Superior cannot establish that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Washington law when it fails to even acknowledge the law it applied.

Rather than address the black letter law relied on by the Court of Appeals, Superior misrepresents the Court of

<sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals correctly noted that Nickerson's manager testified "the right to decide how the building looked from the outside . . . was an important part of the agreement" (Op. 10), contrary to Superior's assertion it "misstated" her testimony. (Pet. 17) Nickerson's manager testified it was "very important" that Nickerson "have control over any improvements that would be made by the tenants." (RP 189) Superior focuses on the testimony of Nickerson's manager stating it was important "any improvements that were done were done correctly" (Pet. 17), but that testimony only underscores that the right to control alterations was, as the trial court found, "clearly important" to Nickerson, and a right it "reasonabl[y] expected to reserve to itself through the Lease." (See FF 2.18, 2.20, CP 972-73) Superior's hair-splitting of this testimony also ignores the documentary evidence, including the lease itself, confirming that the right to control alterations to the property and its outward appearance was a material term of the lease. (See §§ C, supra, D.2, infra; see also Op. 10: noting that, in addition to the trial testimony, the trial court's finding was "supported by the written record and lease provision")

Appeals' decision by arguing it held that breaching "one of the multiple functions of the contractual relationship' can justify eviction of a lease for material breach." (Pet. 9 (quoting Op. 11-12)) Superior omits the language immediately preceding the quoted passage, in which the Court of Appeals rejected Superior's contention—repeated in its petition (see Pet. 7, 13)—that "the only purpose of the lease was for it to occupy the building and Nickerson to receive rent" because substantial evidence supported the trial court's finding that "a primary function of the lease" was for "Nickerson [to] retain the right for approval of Superior's exterior alterations." (Op. 11) As explained below, the Court of Appeals' actual holding that substantial evidence supported the trial court's findings applied established standards of appellate review and is entirely consistent with Washington law.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly held that substantial evidence supported the trial court's findings that Superior's attempts to alter the property without permission were a material breach of contract.

Not content to simply ignore the law applied by the Court of Appeals, Superior also ignores the evidence that was critical to both the trial court's findings and the Court of Appeals' decision in arguing review is necessary to protect tenants from eviction for "breaching a minor or immaterial term in a lease." (Pet. 11) Superior's breach was not "minor" or "immaterial." It was—as the trial court found—"significant and material." (FF 2.20, CP 973) Superior's lengthy discussion of public policy is nothing more than an improper request for this Court to reweigh the evidence in this case under the guise of protecting tenant's rights. (See Pet. 10-18) Consistent with bedrock principles of appellate review, this Court should decline that request.

As it did in the Court of Appeals, Superior ignores the standard of review, which requires a reviewing court to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the party that prevailed at trial. *City of Univ. Place v. McGuire*, 144 Wn.2d 640, 652, 30 P.3d 453 (2001). Superior instead presents the facts in the light most favorable to it and disregards the context that was critical to the trial court's finding that Superior's removal of the siding strip was not merely a "single aesthetic change" (Pet. 3), but the culmination of a "proven pattern of lack of attention to the details of the lease, [its] lease obligations, and a disregard for the standards of good faith and fair dealing." (FF 2.20,

CP 973; see also RP 303: "when I take all of this together, there has been a material breach of the lease")<sup>4</sup>

In particular, the trial court relied on Nickerson's June 2019 reminder to Superior that "pre-approval is required for all modifications" after it hired painters to paint the warehouse without Nickerson's knowledge, let alone its permission:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Superior's assertions regarding its removal of the siding stripe epitomize its disregard for the standard of review. Superior asserts an email from Nickerson's manager authorized it to remove the entire siding stripe (Pet. 4), but, as the Court of Appeals observed, the "e-mail to Superior clearly stated that the stripe could be removed where Superior intended to install the sign only." (Op. 9; see also Ex. 32 at 2: siding stripe could "be removed where sign is to be installed") Superior also relies on a drawing that omits the siding stripe from all sides of the building (Pet. 4), but the Court of Appeals correctly deferred to the trial court's determination that image demonstrated a lack of detail and not, as Superior alleges, authorization to remove the entire stripe. (Op. 9) Finally, Superior contends its removal of the siding stripe was only "temporary" and not "irreversible" (Pet. 1, 7), but, as the trial court found, it was undisputed that, as of trial, Superior had not replaced the stripe or even attempted to replace it (FF 2.19-2.20, CP 973; Ex. 41), or complied with Nickerson's request that it "be returned undamaged to Landlord." (Ex. 32 at 1)

What is most important is Exhibit 18, the third to last paragraph says, from [Nickerson] to defendants . . . "Today's events is a reminder that pre-approval is required for all modifications of the facility. . . ." All right. The lease says you've got to get permission. I don't think it's controverted that you've got to get permission.

(RP 297-98; *see also* RP 303: Nickerson "had to approve any changes, and that was important to them. It was a material thing, which has been brought up over and over in the trial.")<sup>5</sup>

Superior's attempt to paint the warehouse was not its only breach of the lease's requirement that alterations "be performed . . . only *after* obtaining [l]andlord's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The trial court did not, as Superior asserts, exclude any evidence "about other contemplated 'changes' to the building." (Pet. 8 (citing RP 185)) The cited ruling excluded only testimony about additional problems with how Superior installed its sign after removing the entire siding stripe. As the trial court's oral remarks and written decision make clear, Superior's repeated attempts to alter the property without Nickerson's permission prior to its removal of the siding stripe were critical to its decision.

[a]pproval." (Ex. 1 at 5, ¶ 4.3.2 (emphasis added)) Superior installed a car lift without Nickerson's approval (Ex. 12 at 5), refuting its assertion it did not make "any unauthorized 'changes' to the premises, other than" removing the stripe. (Pet. 8 n.6) Similarly, when Nickerson denied Superior's request to install carpet in the warehouse, Superior nonetheless purchased carpet and bluntly told Nickerson that—despite the lack of authorization—it "had every intention of installing the carpet." (Ex. 18 at 3) Superior ignored Nickerson's recommendations for its proposed remodel of the property, and instead threatened Nickerson to accept "plans for major modifications that already had been denied." (Ex. 13 at 3)

Superior persisted in its unauthorized attempts to alter the property despite Nickerson's frequent reminders that it "ha[d] final say on [tenant improvements] and design" and that "[a]ny modifications have to keep in mind future rentability of the building." (Ex. 6 at 1; Ex. 12 at 6;

see also Ex. 18 at 2-3, "this is not the first time the Landlord has said no and the tenant has continued to pursue modifications in hopes the Landlord will change their mind."; Ex. 19 at 1: email from Nickerson's manager regarding architectural drawings advising Superior that "[f]inal approval cannot be granted until I have building permit quality drawings")

Superior's contention that the Court of Appeals "create[d] an impermissibly liberal standard for evictions" entirely ignores this context and history. (Pet. 10-11) Superior does not acknowledge its pressure on Nickerson to accept modifications that Nickerson had already rejected, nor that it repeatedly proceeded with plans to alter the property even after expressly rejected by Nickerson. To the contrary, Superior continues to ignore the evidence relied on by both the trial court and Court of Appeals by asserting there is no evidence it "continuously"

made *changes* without approval." (Pet. 8, quoting Op. 11 (emphasis in original))

Far from "extend[ing] the law" (Pet. 12), the Court of Appeals applied established standards of appellate review in deferring to the trial court's finding—based on the substantial evidence just cited—that Superior's removal of the siding stripe materially breached the lease because it was the capstone on "a proven pattern" of disregarding the lease's requirement that it obtain Nickerson's approval before altering the property. (FF 2.20, CP 973) Superior's contention that "[p]reserving the stripe was never a material term in the lease" confirms that its petition is simply an improper request for this Court review the evidence de novo. (Pet. 17; see also Pet. 10 n.8) But this Court may "not substitute [its] judgment for that of the trial court even though [it] might have resolved a factual dispute differently." Cent. Puget Sound Reg'l Transit Auth. v. WR-

SRI 120th N. LLC, 191 Wn.2d 223, 251, ¶ 59, 422 P.3d 891 (2018) (internal quotation and alterations omitted).

The out-of-state cases cited by Superior (*see* Pet. 14-16)—all of which are trial court decisions or *affirm* a trial court decision—underscore that the materiality of a breach is a question of fact to be resolved—as it was here—according to the "circumstances of each particular case." 6A Wash. Prac., *supra*, WPI 302.03.6 This case is thus not an "outlier nationwide" (Pet. 14), but entirely consistent with well-established law. If any aspect of this case is an "outlier," it is Superior's "consistent failure to abide by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As Superior concedes (Pet. 13), the only Washington cases it cites, *Atherton Condo. Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Dirs. v. Blume Dev. Co.*, 115 Wn.2d 506, 522, 799 P.2d 250 (1990) and *Westlake View Condo. Ass'n v. Sixth Ave. View Partners, LLC*, 146 Wn. App. 760, 770, 193 P.3d 161 (2008), did not address the materiality of a breach of a commercial lease, and instead addressed only whether "aesthetic" issues violated the implied warranty of *habitability*.

explicit provision that Nickerson retain control of the property's exterior." (Op. 11)

3. The Court of Appeals correctly reviewed for an abuse of discretion the trial court's determination that it would not exercise its authority to grant Superior equitable relief given its lack of good faith.

Superior again upends established standards of appellate review in arguing that the Court of Appeals should have reviewed the trial court's decision not to grant it equitable relief de novo instead of for an abuse of discretion. Relying on *Borton & Sons, Inc. v. Burbank Prop., LLC*, 196 Wn.2d 199, 471 P.3d 871 (2020), Superior argues that the Court of Appeals should have applied a de novo standard because the issue in this case is "whether equitable relief is appropriate." (Pet. 18-20) But *Borton* resolved "the threshold question of whether an equitable remedy was available" and reversed the trial court's grant of an equitable grace period because the tenant did "not

make the required showing that it suffered an inequitable forfeiture." 196 Wn.2d at 207, 214, ¶¶ 16, 38; see also Borton, 196 Wn.2d at 204, 206, ¶¶ 10, 15 (framing the issue as whether "the trial court ha[d] discretion to grant . . . an equitable grace period"; explaining that in *Crafts v. Pitts*, 161 Wn.2d 16, 162 P.3d 382 (2007) this Court "reviewed the equitable remedy for abuse of discretion only after establishing that the party had a *legal* right to specific performance") (emphasis in original).

Here, unlike *Borton*, the issue was not whether the trial court had the authority to grant Superior equitable relief were it inclined to do so—Superior stressed to the trial court that it had such discretion, and the parties did not dispute on appeal that the trial court had the authority to award equitable relief. (*See* RP 287-88; CP 705-22; App. Br. 32-33; Resp. Br. 39-41) As this Court explained in *Borton*, "the fashioning of an equitable remedy is a distinct

question from whether an equitable remedy is *available* as a matter of law." 196 Wn.2d at 207, ¶ 16 (emphasis added).<sup>7</sup>

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